IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA



1-18

KARL ELLER, ROBERT DEARTH and RICHARD YARNELL,

Appellants,

vs.

RANDY SHOVA, individually, and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Felicia Shova,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * *

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * *

WILLIAM M. SCHNEIKART, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 170420

RANDEE K. CARSON, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 434558

Hampp, Schneikart & James, P.A. Post Office Box 11329 St. Petersburg, FL 33733 (813) 823-7707

Attorneys for Appellants: Karl Eller, Robert Dearth and Richard Yarnell.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. DESIGNATION OF THE PARTIES

The Appellants, Karl Eller, Robert Dearth and Richard Yarnell, were originally the <u>defendants</u> in this civil tort action for gross negligence filed in the Circuit Court for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit on September 1990. (R. 1-147). Thereafter, the defendants became the appellees in the Second District Court of Appeal proceedings, pursuant to the Plaintiff's direct appeal from a final order of dismissal rendered by the circuit court. (R. 147). Throughout the "Case and Facts" portion of this brief, the Appellants will be referred to collectively as "the Defendants," unless additional specificity is required for the sake of clarity. Thereafter, they will be referred to as "Appellants."

The Appellee, Randy Shova, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Felicia Shova, was originally the <u>plaintiff</u> below, and thereafter became the appellant on appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal. (R. 1-147). Throughout this brief, the Appellee will be referred to as "the Plaintiff," unless additional specificity is required.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a direct appeal from an order of the Second District Court of Appeal, dated September 4, 1992, in which the district court expressly declared unconstitutional a 1988 amendment to the Workers' Compensation Act, specifically, Section 440.11(1) of the Florida Statutes, which extended the employer's tort immunity for

work related injuries to the following persons:

any sole proprietor, partner, corporate officer or director, supervisor, or other person who in the course and scope of his duties acts in a managerial or policymaking capacity and the conduct which caused the alleged injury arose within the course and scope of said managerial or policymaking duties and was not a violation of a law, whether or not a violation was charged, for which the maximum penalty which may be imposed exceeds 60 days imprisonment as set forth in s. 775.082

§ 440.11(1), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988). See Shova v. Eller, 17 Fla. L. Weekly 2095 (Fla. 2d DCA Sept. 4, 1992) (Appendix/DCA Final Order). In holding the foregoing amendment unconstitutional, the district court reversed the circuit court's June 13, 1991 order which had dismissed with prejudice the Plaintiff's second amended complaint alleging gross negligence on the part of the Defendants. Thereafter, the Defendants filed a timely motion for rehearing, which motion was denied on October 20, 1992, prompting this direct appeal. (Appendix/DCA Rehearing Motion and Denial).

The appellate jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida is invoked pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution, and Rule 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, as the district court expressly held unconstitutional a provision of the Florida Statutes. (Appendix/DCA Final Order).

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On September 19, 1990, the Plaintiff, Randy Shova, individually and as personal representative of the estate of Felicia Shova, deceased, filed a complaint against three "fellow

employees" of Felicia Shova, alleging simple negligence and gross negligence resulting in her death. (R. 1-9). In his original complaint, the Plaintiff alleged that his wife, Felicia Shova, had been employed continuously by the Circle K Corporation as an Assistant Manager and Store Manager of one of Circle K's convenience stores in Tampa, Florida from July 1987 until January 26, 1990. (R. 1-9).

On January 26, 1990, while she was working the 11:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. shift as supervisor of the Store, Felicia Shova was killed when an individual (later identified as Anthony Hill) entered the Store at approximately 11:30 p.m. and thereafter shot her with a gun during the course of committing an armed robbery. (R. 1-9).

The Defendant, Karl Eller, was identified in the Plaintiff's original complaint as the Chairman of the Board of Circle K Corporation and a "fellow employee" allegedly responsible for formulating the corporation's policies at the time of Felicia Shova's death. (R. 1-9). The Defendant, Robert Dearth, was identified as the President of Circle K Corporation and a "fellow employee" allegedly responsible for implementing the corporation's policies at the time of Felicia Shova's death. (R. 1-9). The Defendant, Richard Yarnell, was identified as the Regional Manager of Circle K Corporation and a "fellow employee" allegedly responsible at the time of Felicia Shova's death for the implementation of policies, supervision, staffing, and security for the corporation's stores in West Central Florida, including the

subject Store. (R. 1-9).

The Plaintiff's original complaint alleged that the Defendants, in their respective corporate capacities as directors, officers or managers of the Circle K Corporation, were liable for gross and simple negligence in failing to increase the safety and security of the subject Store through the provision of additional security devices and measures. (R. 1-9). Initially, the Plaintiff's complaint consisted of two separate counts-- the first one alleged gross negligence on the part of the Defendants in their capacity as "fellow employees," while the second count alleged simple negligence in their capacity as "employees working in unrelated employment." (R. 1-9).

On November 20, 1990, the circuit court dismissed the Plaintiff's original complaint (R. 20) upon the Defendants' motion to dismiss, in which they had argued, <u>inter alia</u>, that Section 440.11(1) of the Florida Statutes provides the individual managerial and policymaking defendants with immunity under situations involving allegations of <u>simple</u> or <u>gross</u> negligence. (R. 12-13). The Plaintiff thereafter filed an amended complaint containing additional allegations of gross negligence (R. 21-30); however, this amended complaint was similarly dismissed on the basis that Section 440.11 provides the individual managerial and policymaking Defendants with immunity against liability in tort for conduct amounting to simple or gross negligence. (R. 32-33,40-41).

The Plaintiff thereafter filed a second amended complaint, which now contained only one count alleging essentially the same

thing as the previously dismissed two count complaint, with certain additional allegations relative to the level of "knowledge" on the part of the Defendants. (R. 42-48). This complaint, like the two previous versions before it, contained no allegations that the Defendants had violated any law "for which the maximum penalty which may be imposed exceeds 60 days imprisonment as set forth in § 775.082," or that the Defendants were guilty of criminal "culpable negligence inflicting actual personal injury on another," as specified in S 784.05(2) of the Florida Statutes. (Appendix/Complaints).

The Defendants moved to dismiss this second amended complaint (R. 49-54), and on June 13, 1991, Circuit Judge Roland Gonzalez entered an order dismissing the Plaintiff's second amended complaint with prejudice. (R. 144-145). The dismissal was "final," as Plaintiff's counsel had represented to Judge Gonzalez that no additional allegations of material fact could be asserted which would satisfy the standard of tort liability set forth in Section 440.11(1) of the Florida Statutes. (R. 144-145). In his order of dismissal, Judge Gonzalez found that Section 440.11, as amended, requires:

...allegations of ultimate fact that the alleged injury was a result of a violation of law for which the maximum penalty which may be imposed exceeds sixty (60) days imprisonment, as set forth in Section 775.082 Florida Statutes.

(R. 144-145). Judge Gonzalez also expressly ruled that Section 440.11 of the Florida Statutes is constitutional. (R. 144-145). On appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal, the

Plaintiff argued that the 1988 amendment to Section 440.11, which now provides heightened tort immunity to the employer's principals, officers and policymaking employees when they are acting in such capacity, and when such actions do not rise to the level of <u>culpable negligence inflicting actual personal injury on another</u> ¹ is unconstitutional as a denial of the right of access to the courts guaranteed by Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution. (Appellant Brief/DCA). The Plaintiff contended that, pursuant to <u>Streeter v. Sullivan</u>, 509 So. 2d 268 (Fla. 1987), the Supreme Court of Florida rejected the "affirmative act" doctrine previously applied by the various district courts of appeal to partially immunize vice-principals and supervisory level employees, thereby permitting corporate officers to be subject to civil liability for gross negligence as other "employees" under the provisions of the Workers' Compensation Act. (Appellant Brief/DCA).

According to the Plaintiff, the Legislature's amendment of Section 440.11(1) in 1988 in direct response to the Supreme Court's <u>Streeter</u> decision unconstitutionally abolished an injured employee's right to sue managerial or policy-making employees for gross negligence. (Appellant Brief/DCA).

In support of the trial court's order of dismissal, the Defendants conversely argued on appeal that the 1988 amendment to Section 440.11(1) of the Florida Statutes had not abolished any

¹ This particular standard of liability equates with the minimum level of conduct necessary to constitute a first degree misdemeanor, for which the maximum criminal penalty which may be imposed exceeds 60 days, pursuant to Sections 775.082(4)(a) and 784.05(2) of the Florida Statutes (1989).

pre-existing statutory or common law right of an employee to sue officers, directors or supervisors for the intentional or criminal acts of unrelated third-party tortfeasors, such as the robber who intentionally killed the deceased, Felicia Shova. (Appellee Brief/DCA). The Defendants additionally argued that the Legislature simply "increased" the standard of liability necessary to support a civil action in tort against managerial and policy making employees acting in such capacity, and that as such, the Legislature had not "abolished" any existing remedy or right by its enactment the 1988 amendment. (Appellee Brief/DCA).

In support of this contention, the Defendants argued that a previous 1978 amendment to Section 440.11(1), in which the standard of liability in tort for fellow employees had been increased from "simple" negligence to "gross" negligence, had already passed constitutional muster under a similar "access to courts" challenge asserted in <u>Iglesia v. Floran</u>, 394 So. 2d 994 (Fla. 1981). (Appellee Brief/DCA). The Defendants additionally argued that viable, alternative remedies for the redress of work-related injuries and deaths already exist under the present workers' compensation framework, and that as such, the 1988 amendment to Section 440.11(1) does not deny employees access to the courts to seek redress for work-related injuries. (Appellee Brief/DCA).

The Second District Court of Appeal, in a majority opinion authored by Acting Chief Judge Ryder, expressly held that Section 440.11(1) of the Florida Statutes, as amended, violates the access to courts provision of Florida's Constitution, specifically Article

I, Section 21. <u>Shova v. Eller</u>, 17 Fla. L. Weekly 2095 (Fla. 2d DCA September 4, 1992)(Appendix/DCA Final Order). According to the majority, prior to the 1988 amendment, an officer or director could be sued by a fellow employee for gross negligence, just as any other employee, pursuant to the Supreme Court's 1987 decision in <u>Streeter v. Sullivan</u>, 509 So. 2d 268 (Fla. 1987). (Appendix/DCA Final Order). The district court further reasoned that by raising the standard of liability for managerial and policymaking employees from gross negligence, to culpable negligence, the Legislature abolished any civil cause of action in negligence. (Appendix/DCA Final Order).

The district court additionally concluded that the workers' compensation system does not provide a reasonable alternative to a cause of action in gross negligence against a fellow employee. (Appendix/DCA Final Order). According to the majority, the workers' compensation system only provides a reasonable alternative to suit against the employer itself, and an employee's ability to bring a civil cause of action against officers, directors, and supervisory employees predicated on culpable negligence is now "illusory" under the statute, as amended. (Appendix/DCA Final Order).

Judge Altenbernd dissented from the majority opinion, writing a lengthy separate opinion expressing his opposing views. (Appendix/DCA Final Order). In his dissenting opinion, Judge Altenbernd concluded that the 1988 amendment to Section 440.11(1) did not violate the access to courts guarantee of Article I,

Section 21, in that injured workers had no pre-existing statutory or common law right to sue managerial or policymaking employees, either for injuries sustained as a result of the intentional tortious or criminal conduct of third parties, or for injuries resulting from negligent decisions made by such "vice principals" relative to carrying out the employer's nondelegable duty to provide a safe work place. (Appendix/DCA Final Order).

Judge Altenbernd additionally reasoned that, as long as substantial benefits are still available to injured workers under the existing workers' compensation system, it continues to provide an acceptable, reasonable alternative to tort liability for both employers and coworkers alike. (Appendix/DCA Final Order). He further noted that the 1988 amendment to Section 440.11(1) actually creates more causes of action than it eliminates. (Appendix/DCA Final Order). Specifically, while sole proprietors and partners used to enjoy tort immunity as the "statutory employer" under the provisions of the Workers' Compensation Act, now, under the 1988 amendment, they no longer have complete immunity for work-related injuries or deaths directly occasioned by their culpable negligence. (Appendix/DCA Final Order).

The Defendants' Motion for Rehearing of this matter was denied by the Second District Court of Appeal, without comment, and this appeal ensued. (Appendix/DCA Motion for Rehearing and Denial).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The 1988 amendment to Section 440.1(1) of Florida's Workers' Compensation Act, which extended the employer's tort immunities to policymaking and managerial employees when they act in such capacity, and when their conduct does not constitute a violation of the law for which the maximum penalty exceeds 60 days imprisonment, is a valid enactment in complete harmony with the constitutional "right of access" to the courts set forth in Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution. The subject amendment to Section 440.11(1) represents a clarification of Section 440.11(1), and establishes that the employer's officers, directors, and policymaking employees were never intended by the Legislature to be considered "fellow employees" subject to tort liability when they are acting in their policymaking capacities on behalf of the "employer."

Legislative enactments challenged under Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution are evaluated under an application of the <u>Kluger</u> test previously formulated by the Supreme Court, which test requires this Court to determine whether a "pre-existing" right of access existed; whether such right has been "abolished" by the Legislature; whether "reasonable alternatives" to protect the right of access have been provided; and finally, whether the Legislature has shown an "overpowering need" for abolishment of the right which cannot be met by any "alternative means." The subject amendment to Section 440.11(1) passes constitutional muster under each and every prong of the <u>Kluger</u> test.

In 1968, when the Florida Constitution was reenacted, there was no <u>common law</u> or <u>statutory</u> right of action available to an injured employee which would have enabled such employee to sue his employer's vice principals (i.e., officers, directors, and policymaking employees) for acts of omission relative to the employer's <u>nondelegable</u> duty to provide a safe work place. This was particularly true under the particular facts of this case, since, in 1968, an injured employee had no preexisting right to sue his employer's officers and managers for omissions amounting to <u>negligent security</u>, or for injuries occasioned by the <u>intentional</u> <u>criminal acts of third-party tortfeasors who are unrelated to the</u> <u>employer</u>.

Moreover, even if there was such a pre-existing right of access, the 1988 amendment to Section 440.11(1) did not "abolish" such right, it simply raised the standard of liability in tort applicable to policymaking and managerial employees to conduct which constitutes a violation of the law for which the maximum penalty which may be imposed exceeds 60 days imprisonment, as set forth in Section 775.082 of the Florida Statutes. If the injurious conduct fits within this liability rubric, an injured employee can still maintain a tort action against the responsible officers or managers. In addition, the employee can still sue his supervisors for acts of <u>gross</u> negligence if the injurious conduct which caused his injuries was NOT conduct within the course and scope of his supervisor's policymaking or managerial duties.

Furthermore, in addition to pursuing workers' compensation

benefits available under Chapter 440, an injured employee can still pursue tort remedies against the <u>unrelated third-party tortfeasor</u> <u>who was directly responsible for his or her injuries</u>. Such actions remain wholly viable after the 1988 amendment and were unaffected by the partial immunities extended to officers, directors, and managers. In addition, reasonable alternatives to protect the injured employee's right of access still exist, even after the 1988 amendment. Under the provisions of Chapter 440, including Section 440.11(1), an injured worker can still pursue valuable and substantial benefits under the current workers' compensation system-- a system which has repeatedly withstood "access to courts" challenges over the years and has been viewed as a reasonable alternative to unwieldy tort litigation for work-related injuries.

Finally, an overpowering necessity exists for extending the employer's tort immunities to policymaking and managerial employees under the circumstances set forth in the statute, as the employer's immunity from tort would become nothing more than mere illusion if the employees who formulate the employer's policies remain exposed to tort litigation for policymaking decisions made on behalf of the employer. Such immunity is at the heart and soul of the workers' compensation system and <u>must</u> and <u>can</u> be preserved without running afoul of Article I, Section 21 of Florida's Constitution. Section 440.11(1), as amended, is constitutionally sound.

ARGUMENT

Point I.

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT SECTION 440.11(1), AS AMENDED IN 1988, VIOLATES ARTICLE I, SECTION 21 OF FLORIDA'S CONSTITUTION, AS THE LEGISLATURE DID NOT ABOLISH ANY PRE-EXISTING RIGHT OF ACCESS, REASONABLE ALTERNATIVES TO SUIT ALREADY EXIST, AND RELEVANT LEGAL PRECEDENTS FROM THIS COURT WHICH GOVERN THE RESOLUTION OF THIS PARTICULAR CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE WERE MISAPPLIED BY THE DISTRICT COURT.

This case centers around a constitutional "access to courts" challenge asserted against Section 440.11(1) of the Florida Statutes, as amended by the Legislature in 1988. The 1988 amendment to Section 440.11(1) of the Workers' Compensation Act extended employer tort immunity to managerial and policymaking employees under certain limited circumstances, as specified in the statute. <u>See</u> Ch. 88-284, §1, Laws of Fla. The Defendants (Appellants herein) contend that the Second District Court of Appeal, in holding Section 440.11(1) unconstitutional under Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution, not only misinterpreted the amendment's intended scope and effect, but also misapplied prevailing precedents from this Court which govern the resolution of this particular constitutional issue.

Before evaluating the constitutional merits of the challenged amendment, however, it is first necessary to discern the proper judicial focus of this particular case, and to specify what this case is NOT about. This case solely concerns the constitutional validity under Article I, Section 21 of a 1988 amendment to the tort immunity provisions of <u>the Workers' Compensation Act</u>-- an amendment which affects the tort liability of policymaking and managerial employees of both public and private employers who engage in almost every conceivable type of employment within the State of Florida.

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