097

FILED

SID J. WHITE

35

FEB 10 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

KARL ELLER, ROBERT DEARTH
and RICHARD YARNELL,

Appellants,

vs.

CASE NO.: 80,776

RANDY SHOVA, individually, and
as Personal Representative of
the estate of Felicia Shova,

Appellee.

_____ /

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JAMES A. SHEEHAN, ESQUIRE
341 Third Street South
St. Petersburg, Florida 33701
(813) 821-1928

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In Kluger v. White 281 So 2d 1 (Fla 1973), the Supreme Court established the principle that the legislature could not abolish a cause of action existing on the date of the Florida Constitution as amended in 1988 without providing a reasonable alternative remedy except where there was an overpowering public necessity and no other method to alleviate that necessity.

The issue in this case is whether the legislature in enacting the 1988 amendment to Florida Statute 440.11 (1) abolished a pre-existing cause of action. There is no question that a reasonable alternative remedy was not provided by the legislature and that this statute was not enacted to alleviate an overpowering public necessity.

A cause of action by one employee against another existed on the date of the Constitution: Frantz v. McBee 77 So 2d 796 (Fla 1965). As to the specific question whether a cause of action existed in 1968 where a criminal act of a third party was the cause of injury, the case law is clear that if the act was foreseeable, then a cause of action for negligence existed. See Nicholas v. Miami Burglar Alarm Co. 339 So 2d 175 (Fla 1976).

The cause of action for negligence was abolished by the 1988 amendment to 440.11 (1) because the statute, as amended, only allows liability to attach against corporate officers acting in a managerial or policy making capacity when they perform intentional acts. Culpable negligence of the first degree is an intentional

act as defined by this court in Fisher v. Shenandoah General Construction Co. 498 So 2d 882 (Fla 1986).

Therefore, because this legislation abolishes a pre-existing cause of action for negligence, it is unconstitutional under Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution.

This conclusion does not make the employer's immunity an illusion or open the floodgates of litigation. The legislature can formulate legislation to provide limited immunity to corporate officers when acting in a policy making capacity. However, like the limited immunity in the sovereign immunity cases, corporate officers have an operational duty or a duty as co-employees to remedy a known dangerous condition. To the extent that this legislation eliminates liability for the breach of that duty, it is unconstitutional.

ARGUMENT

THE 1988 AMENDMENT TO FLORIDA STATUTE 440.11 (1) IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER ARTICLE I, SECTION 21 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION BECAUSE IT ABOLISHES A CAUSE OF ACTION WITHOUT PROVIDING A REASONABLE ALTERNATIVE REMEDY.

Randy Shova's claim in this case and the opinion of the 2nd District Court of Appeal are based on several distinct conclusions:

- a) The landmark Supreme Court case of Kluger v. White 281 So 2d 1 (Fla 1973) held that the legislature could not abolish a statutory or common law cause of action that existed on the date of enactment of the most recent Constitution of the State of Florida (the Constitution), November 5, 1968 without providing a reasonable alternative remedy except in those cases where there was an overwhelming public necessity and no other reasonable alternative for meeting that necessity was available.
- b) The Worker's Compensation Act in the state of Florida as of November 5, 1968 and previously did not preclude suits by one employee against another. Corporate officers are employees under the Worker's Compensation Act and there existed a common law cause of action in 1968 by an employee against a corporate officer: Frantz v. McBee 77 So 2d 796 (Fla 1955), Streeter v. Sullivan 509 So 2d 598 (Fla 1987).
- c) The 1988 amendment to Florida Statute 440.11 (1), effective October 1, 1988, which granted immunity to all employees acting in a managerial or policy making capacity unless said employees were guilty of culpable negligence of the first degree, has effectively eliminated the employee's cause of action against certain co-employees. Therefore, it was unconstitutional.

Access to the Courts

Judge Ryder quoted the pertinent language from Kluger v. White in the majority opinion in Shova but it is worth repeating in this brief;

"...where a right of access to the courts for redress for a particular injury has been provided by statutory law predating the adoption of the Declaration of Rights of the Constitution

of the State of Florida, or where such right has become a part of the common law of the State pursuant to Florida Statute 2.01 F.S.A., the legislature is without power to abolish such a right without providing a reasonable alternative to protect the right of the people of the State to redress for injuries, unless the legislature can show an overpowering public necessity for the abolishment of such right, and no alternative method of meeting such public necessity can be shown" (ibid at p. 4).

In State Department of Corrections v. Koch 582 So 2d 5 (Fla 1st DCA 1991), the First District Court of Appeals in addressing this particular issue stated:

"...the right of an employee to sue a coemployee for injury caused by that coemployee's negligence was in existence as part of the law of Florida in 1968, and was one of the rights of access and remedy encompassed by Article 1 Section 21 of the Florida Constitution. See Kluger v. White 281 So 2d 1 (Fla 1973), Smith v. Dept. of Ins. 507 So 2d 1080, 1087-1089 (Fla 1987) (The legislature is without power to abolish common law rights predating Article 1, Section 21, without providing a reasonable alternative to protect the rights of the people of the state for redress of injuries)."

Although appellants argue to the contrary, these cases clearly establish that the elimination of a cause of action by the legislature violates Article I Section 21 of the Constitution.

Appellants also argue that even if a cause of action was abolished by the legislature a reasonable alternative was provided and alternatively, that there was an overwhelming public necessity for this amendment and no other reasonable alternative for meeting that necessity. Neither of these arguments has merit. On the date of the Constitution, employees had a cause of action against their managers and supervisors for negligence and a right to receive worker's compensation benefits from their employers. After the 1988 amendment to 440.11, the cause of action for negligence no

longer existed and the employee received nothing in return. Furthermore, there is nothing in the title to this legislation or the legislative history indicating that this legislation was enacted on the basis of an overpowering public necessity.

The Vested Cause of Action

Prior to the enactment of the Constitution, corporate officers were employees by definition (Streeter) and employees had a cause of action against co-employees (Frantz v. McBee). Therefore, there was a vested cause of action.

However, Judge Altenbernd and the Appellants in their initial brief have argued that Randy Shova would not have had a cause of action in 1968 because at that time, there was no cause of action for negligence when the injury was caused by the intervening criminal act of a third party; Lingefelt v. Hammer 125 So 2d 325 (Fla 2d DCA 1988).

With all due respect, this is supply an incorrect analysis of the law. The consistent rule of law was stated by Judge Overton in Nicholas v. Miami Burglar Alarm 339 So 2d 175, 177 (Fla 1976):

"...though a person's negligence is a cause in fact of another's loss, he will not be liable if an act unforeseeable to him and independent of his negligence intervenes to also cause the loss. See, e.g. "Benedict Pineapple Co v. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co. 55 Fla 514, 46 So 732 (1908)"

Judge Altenbernd makes this same conclusion in his dissenting opinion in Shova: "Chapter 88-289 however, was not enacted upon a finding of overpowering public necessity." (footnote 1 at 2099)

Lingefelt stated the same rule:

"The majority view...holds that a willful, malicious or criminal act as a general rule breaks the chain of causation. Lack of foreseeability appears to be the basis for this conclusion".

The question in 1908 and the question today is the same: Was the intervening criminal act foreseeable? If it was, liability attaches. Each case turns on its own facts: For instance, in Nicholas, the defendant installed a burglar alarm system and thieves snapped the wires. The court felt this was sufficiently foreseeable to withstand a motion to dismiss. In Cooper v. IBI Security Service of Florida Inc. 281 So 2d 524 (Fla 3rd DCA 1973), the plaintiff had to make cash premium collections from insureds. Some of the neighborhoods were known to be dangerous so his employer hired a security guard in those neighborhoods. The guard didn't show up on one occasion and the employee was robbed. The court found that this intervening criminal act of a third party was foreseeable. In Florida East Coast Railway Co. v. Booth 148 So 2d 536 (Fla 3rd DCA 1963), a pre-1968 case, the plaintiff as an employee of the railroad was required to ride on the train in a particular car called the "dead head coach". The dead head coach only had 1/8" plate glass while the other passenger cars had two pane laminated safety glass. In recent years prior to the incident in question, there had been a number of rock throwing incidents in the area involved. On the occasion in question, rocks were thrown, and the plaintiff was struck. Liability was found because the criminal act was reasonably foreseeable.

Because the complaint in this case alleges several prior criminal acts of third parties at the Store, these acts were foreseeable, and therefore, a cause of action would have existed prior to the enactment of the Constitution.

Elimination of a Cause of Action

Judge Ryder in his majority opinion in Shova stated:

"...By this 1988 amendment to section 440.11 (1), the legislature has taken away a cause of action in negligence and in gross negligence and in so doing has abolished any civil cause of action in negligence. The only similarity in negligence, gross negligence and culpable negligence is the word "negligence". Culpable negligence is criminal negligence which is equivalent to an intentional act" (ibid a p.8).

The case law supports his conclusion. In Dominique v. State 435 So 2d 974 (Fla 3rd DCA 1983), the Third District defined manslaughter by culpable negligence (which is the cause of action this plaintiff has to prove under the present statute) as follows:

"...Manslaughter is defined by section 782.07, Florida Statutes (1981) as "the killing of a human being by the act, procurement or culpable negligence of another without lawful justification...". Culpable negligence, which replaces the element of criminal intent (citation omitted) means action of such a gross and flagrant character that it evidences a reckless disregard for human life or safety equivalent to an intentional violation" (emphasis supplied).

In Dominique, there was an altercation at a party during which an individual named Placid threatened to kill Dominique. Placid was escorted from the party. Dominique went to his car and pulled out a loaded gun. Someone grabbed his arm, the gun discharged and killed an innocent bystander. The court held that these facts did not constitute culpable negligence. In Getsic v. State 193 So 2d 679 (Fla 2d DCA 1966) the wife bought her husband a new gun. The

husband was playing with the gun, pulling the hammer back and forth, pointing it at her as he was doing it. She told him to stop. The gun went off and she was killed. The court found no culpable negligence noting that there was no friction, ill will or argument at the time (intent). In Sharp v. State 120 So 2d 206 (Fla 2d DCA 1960), the defendant owned a bar. A crowd was causing a fracas outside the bar. The defendant warned the group to quiet down or leave. When they didn't he went outside with a shotgun. He stumbled and the gun went off killing someone in the crowd. The court found no culpable negligence because there was no indication that the defendant had any reason or cause to shoot this particular victim (intent).

The above cases all establish that there must be some intentional act on the part of the defendant before culpable negligence will be found. There need not be an intent to inflict harm on the person injured but there at least must be an intent to fire the gun. It is extremely important to understand that the above cases are all examples of culpable negligence where there is an "actual" infliction of personal injury which is required by 440.11 (1).² On the other hand, where someone by culpable negligence merely "exposes" another to personal injury, there is

² Florida Statute 440.11 (1) requires the criminally negligent act to carry a penalty exceeding 60 days imprisonment. Florida Statute 775.082 (4) (a) and (b) establish that a misdemeanor of the first degree carries a penalty which exceeds sixty days. Florida Statute 784.05 (1) and (2) establish that culpable negligence which "exposes" a person to personal injury is a misdemeanor of the second degree while culpable negligence which "actually inflicts" personal injury is a misdemeanor of the first degree.

absolutely no liability.

In Fisher v. Shenandoah General Construction Co 418 So 2d 882 (Fla 1986) and Spivey v. Battaglia 258 So 2d 815 (Fla 1972), this court adopted the "substantial certainty" test to determine whether an action was intentional. In Spivey, this court stated:

"...thus, the distinction between intent and negligence boils down to a matter of degree. 'Apparently the line has been drawn by the courts at the point where the known danger ceases to be only a foreseeable risk which a reasonable man could avoid (negligence) and becomes a substantial certainty'. In the latter case, the intent is legally implied and becomes an assault rather than unintentional negligence" (ibid at 817).

The definition of culpable negligence contained in Dominique which requires proof of an act which is equivalent to an intentional violation above and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt, and the cases cited herein interpreting that definition, clearly establish that culpable negligence of the first degree is an intentional act as defined in Fisher and Spivey.

Therefore, the cause of action for negligence against certain co-employees has been abolished by the 1988 amendment to Florida Statute 440.11.

Public Policy

Even though this legislation was not enacted on the basis of an overpowering public necessity, this court in its prior opinions dealing with similar issues has been concerned with the public policy effects of its decisions. As in Streeter, there are conflicting issues of public policy in this case.

On the one hand, the legislature has a legislative interest in

insuring that the employees immunity in worker's compensation does not become a illusion. On the other hand, certain decisions by corporate officers expose employees to personal injury, rape and murder. The legislature recognized this fact in the 1992 amendment to the Convenience Business Security Act. As appellant pointed out the problem is not cured by this Act because 440.11 (1) applies to all businesses. Even though employees in the convenience store industry are now arguably protected, corporate officers by their decisions are still knowingly exposing employees to danger in banks (Streeter), trucking (Kaplan), construction (Fisher) and numerous other industries without any personal liability for their actions.

The public policy of this state should be concerned with protecting the lives of these employees. Personal injury and products liability lawsuits have historically performed a useful function in this regard because they not only serve to compensate injured victims and their families but they also serve the interest of society as a whole by making corporations, ever interested in the bottom line, make safer products and, as in this case, by making corporate officers, concerned with their own personal liability, provide better safeguards for their fellow employees.

The legislation in this case is unconstitutional because it destroys the vested rights of employees. But the fact that a cause of action must exist for negligence against all fellow employees does not necessarily destroy the immunity of the Worker's Compensation Act and open the floodgates of litigation.

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